Toxicity Testing Using Microorganisms

Volume II

Editors

Bernard J. Dutka

Gabriel Bitton

Toxicity Testing Using Microorganisms

Volume II

Editors

Bernard J. Dutka

Head, Microbiology Laboratories Section National Water Research Institute Department of the Environment Canada Centre for Inland Waters Burlington, Ontario, Canada

Gabriel Bitton

Professor

Department of Environmental Engineering Sciences
University of Florida
Gainesville, Florida



Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Toxicity testing using microorganisms.

Includes bibliographies and index.

1. Toxicity testing. 2. Microbiological assay.

I. Bitton, Gabriel. II. Dutka, Bernard J. [DNLM:

1. Environmental Pollutants — toxicity. 2. Micro-

biological Technics. 3. Toxicology - methods. QV

QV 602 T757]

RA1199.4.M53T68 1986 628.5'4'028 86-4162

ISBN 0-8493-5256-8 (v. 1)

ISBN 0-8493-5257-6 (v. 2)

This book represents information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reprinted material is quoted with permission, and sources are indicated. A wide variety of references are listed. Every reasonable effort has been made to give reliable data and information, but the author and the publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or for the consequences of their use.

All rights reserved. This book, or any parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form without written consent from the publisher.

Direct all inquiries to CRC Press, Inc., 2000 Corporate Blvd., N.W., Boca Raton, Florida, 33431.

© 1986 by CRC Press, Inc.

International Standard Book Number 0-8493-5256-8 (v. 1) International Standard Book Number 0-8493-5257-6 (v. 2)

> Library of Congress Card Number 85-4162 Printed in the United States

THE EDITORS

Gabriel Bitton is a professor at the Department of Environmental Engineering Sciences at the University of Florida, Gainesville, Fla. He has extensively published in the field of environmental microbiology and virology and has authored or edited four books in his research area. He has participated in several national and international committees on public health issues. Dr. Bitton is the past National Chairman of the Division of Environmental and General Applied Microbiology of the American Society for Microbiology. He is an Associate Editor for *Toxicity Assessment: An International Quarterly*.

Bernard J. Dutka is Head of the Microbiology Laboratories Section of the National Water Research Institute, Canada Centre for Inland Waters, Department of Environment, Burlington, Ontario, Canada. He has written or co-written over 120 papers and reports on such topics as coliform index, fecal sterol-bacterial relationships, sediment microbiology, microbial toxicity screening tests, and membrane filter methodology, has edited the book Membrane Filtration: Applications, Techniques, and Problems, and has co-edited three other books. Mr. Dutka is former Chairman of the ASTM subcommittee D19:24 on water microbiology, international convenor of two ISO working groups, and a member of the AWWA microbiological problems committee. He is also co-Chairman of the Symposium Committee which organizes the biennial International Symposium on Toxicity Testing Using Bacteria, and co-editor of Toxicity Assessment: An International Quarterly.

CONTRIBUTORS

Harvey Babich

Senior Research Associate Rockefeller University Laboratory Animal Research Center New York, New York

Tamar Barkay

U.S. EPA Sabine Island Gulf Breeze, Florida

Gabriel Bitton

Professor
Department of Environmental Engineering
Sciences
University of Florida
Gainesville, Florida

Pierre Couture

INRS-Eau University of Quebec St.-Foy, Quebec, Canada

Bernard J. Dutka

Head, Microbiology Laboratories Section Analytical Methods Division National Water Research Institue Burlington, Ontario, Canada

Geoffrey M. Gadd

Department of Biological Sciences University of Dundee Dundee, Scotland

Ben Koopman

Associate Professor
Department of Environmental Engineering
Sciences
University of Florida
Gainesville, Florida

Dickson Liu

Environmental Contaminants Division National Water Research Institute Burlington, Ontario, Canada

Betty H. Olson

Professor of Civil Engineering Program in Social Ecology University of California at Irvine Irvine, California

O.F. Shearer

Research Assistant Program in Social Ecology University of California at Irvine Irvine, California

Guenther Stotzky

Professor Department of Biology New York University New York, New York

John D. Walker

Senior Scientist
Office of Toxic Substances
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Washington, D.C.

Paul T.S. Wong

Great Lakes Fisheries Research Branch Canadian Center for Inland Waters Burlington, Ontario Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 Introduction and Review of Microbial and Biochemical Toxicity Screening Procedures
Gabriel Bitton and Bernard J. Dutka
Chapter 2 Environmental Factors That Affect the Utility of Microbial Assays for the Toxicity and Mutagenicity of Chemical Pollutants
Chapter 3 Toxicity Screening Using Fungi and Yeasts
Chapter 4 Toxicity Screening Using Phytoplankton
Chapter 5 Toxicant Screening in Wastewater Systems
Chapter 6 Toxicity Testing in Soil Using Microorganisms
Chapter 7 Biodegradation Tests
Chapter 8 A U.S. EPA Perspective on Ecotoxicity Testing Using Microorganisms
Index

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF MICROBIAL AND BIOCHEMICAL TOXICITY SCREENING PROCEDURES

G. Bitton and B. J. Dutka

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introduction			
II.	Effects of Toxicants on Microorganisms			
III.	Biochemical Tests	3		
	A. Enzymes	3		
	B. ATP Assays	3		
IV	Bacterial Tests	3		
IA	A. Assays Based on Bacterial Luminescence			
	B. Assays Based on the Measurement of Growth Inhibition, Respiration,	7		
	and Viability of Bacterial Cells	Δ		
	C. "Ecological Effect" Assays			
	C. Dologiou Ditor 11554/5	K E T		
V.	Algal Tests	4		
1.0				
VI.	Fungi and Yeast Bioassays	5		
VII.	Other Approaches	5		
* ***	A. Microcosms			
	B. Microcalorimetric Techniques			
		i i		
VIII.	Conclusions	6		
Refere	ences	7		

I. INTRODUCTION

With the increased world-wide industrialization over the past 25 years, and with the concomitant higher demand for chemicals, both the developed and developing nations face increasing ecological and toxicological problems from the release of toxic contaminants to the environment. In response to these expanding stresses on the environment and in the belief that there is no single criterion by which to adequately judge the potential hazard (either to the environment or man) of a given substance, a multitude of biological assay procedures have been developed, proposed, and used to assess toxicant impacts. Due to our newly acquired awareness of the long-term effects of chemicals discharged into receiving waters, research efforts are being directed at short-term bioassay tests in an attempt to alert monitoring agencies as well as dischargers of toxic conditions.

As industrial pollutants and toxicants such as herbicides, insecticides, fertilizers, and car exhaust fumes affect aquatic biota systems at different levels and in many ways, it is acknowledged that the battery approach utilizing several different short-term biological tests would be preferred in any monitoring scheme. In some studies, investigators have employed a battery of ecological and health effect tests to estimate the toxicity and mutagenicity of industrial effluents.

In general there are two main groups of toxicity screening tests: in vitro "health effect" tests and "ecological effect" tests.

"Health effect" toxicity tests are based on the use of subcellular components (e.g., enzymes, DNA, RNA), isolated cells (e.g., cell cultures, red blood cells), tissue sections, or isolated whole organs. These tests consist of determining cell viability (vital staining-dye inclusion test, plating efficiency, colony formation), cell reproduction, or macromolecular biosynthesis. 10.12

"Ecological effect" tests are conducted to measure mainly the acute toxicity of chemicals to aquatic organisms representing various trophic levels of the food chain. These tests help in the estimation of chemical toxicity in natural and man-modified ecosystems. Bacteria, algae, zooplankton, benthic invertebrates, and fish have been used in these tests. 13-15

Bacteria and enzymes may be exposed to a wide range of toxic, organic, and inorganic compounds in natural waters, soil, and in sewage treatment processes. The toxicity of the compounds depends on environmental parameters as well as on the microorganism or enzyme systems being tested. The compounds may be metabolically altered to nontoxic metabolites or may exert a direct toxic action on microbial populations. Bacteria also may be subjected to synergistic or antagonistic effects between components of toxicant mixtures. In sewage treatment plants, toxicants may cause shifts in microbial populations, and this may adversely affect the operation of the plant. ¹⁶ The effect of toxicants on waste treatment processes will be reviewed in Chapter 5 by Koopman and Bitton.

Toxicant action is concentration dependent. For example, phenol can be metabolized at low concentrations but becomes toxic at higher concentrations. Toxicant action also depends on the presence of other chemicals in solution.¹⁷

The purpose of this chapter and book is to survey the literature on microbial and enzymatic tests which are used to screen for chemical toxicity in the research laboratory or in the aquatic system, and to present in detail some of the more commonly used microbial toxicity screening procedures.

II. EFFECTS OF TOXICANTS ON MICROORGANISMS

There are many proposed mechanisms by which toxicants inhibit and eventually kill bacteria. ¹⁸ Toxicants may cause damage to the genetic material or may lead to protein denaturation, e.g., halogens. They may also disrupt bacterial cell membranes (e.g., phenol

and quaternary ammonium compounds), the result of which is the leakage of DNA, RNA, proteins, and other organic materials. Certain toxic chemicals may displace cations (e.g., Na⁺, Ca⁺) from adsorption sites on the bacterial cell, e.g., acids and alkalis.

A more subtle action of toxic pollutants is their ability to block bacterial chemoreceptors¹⁹ which may lead to the inhibition of organic decomposition and self-purification processes in sewage treatment plants and in waters receiving fecal material.²⁰ It is believed that one of the most important effects of the toxic action of chemicals on bacteria is on enzyme activity.²¹ However, in any toxicity study, one must also take into account the physicochemical factors (presence of other cations, pH, oxidation-reduction potential, temperature, organic matter, clay minerals, etc.) that control the toxic action towards microorganisms.^{22,23} Chapter 2 (Babich and Stotzky) focuses on the effect of abiotic factors on toxicant impact.

The impact of toxicants on bacterial cells may be measured via biochemical tests which include measurement of enzyme activity, ATP content, and bioluminescence. Some biochemical indicators (e.g., ATP, lipopolysaccharides, muramic acid) have been used for the determination of microbial biomass in environmental samples.²⁴ We will now briefly review the major categories of tests which are used or could potentially be used in toxicity assays.

III. BIOCHEMICAL TESTS

A. Enzymes

Since enzymes drive numerous key metabolic reactions in microbial, plant, and animal cells, their inhibition could be the underlying cause of toxicity to the cells. Thus, numerous studies have been carried out to test the effect of toxic pollutants upon enzyme activity, although most of them dealt with dehydrogenase enzymes. The latter catalyze the oxidation of substrates by transfer of electrons through the electron transport system (ETS), which consists of a complex chain of intermediates (flavoproteins, cytochromes, etc.) which transport electrons from the nutrient source to O₂, the final electron acceptor. ²⁵

Specific dyes can be used as indicators of ETS activity. They act as artificial hydrogen acceptors and they change color upon reduction. Thus, the activity may easily be measured with the aid of a spectrophotometer. The most widely used indicator dyes are methylene blue, triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC), tetrazolium blue, rasazurin, and 2-(p-iodophenyl)-3-(p-nitrophenyl)-5-phenyltetrazolium chloride (INT). Toxicity tests based on the reduction of these indicator dyes, as well as on other enzymatic assays (e.g., ATPases, esterases, ureases), are described in Chapter 3 of Volume I.

B. ATP Assays

Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is a product of catabolic reactions, common to all protists and animal and plant cells. Since ATP is rapidly destroyed after cell death, one then has an ideal means of distinguishing between live and dead cells. The basic assay consists of measuring the light emitted following the reaction of firefly luciferin with ATP. This reaction is catalyzed²⁶ by luciferase and Mg²⁺. Brezonik and Patterson²⁷ first proposed the use of ATP in toxicity testing in activated sludges. This was further explored by other investigators (see Chapter 3 of Volume I for more details).

IV. BACTERIAL TESTS

Bacteria are involved primarily in the mineralization of organic substrates and in the recycling of mineral nutrients. Their activities are essential to self-purification processes in aquatic environments. They have relatively short life cycles and respond rather quickly to changes in the environment. They are stable and easily maintained at low cost. Relatively large numbers of cells are exposed to the toxicant under study. These characteristics make bacteria suitable for rapid screening of toxicants in natural waters. The various bacterial

4

toxicity screening tests can be divided into three main categories: assays based on bacterial luminescence, assays based on the measurement of viability or growth of specific bacteria or specific groups of bacteria, and "ecological effect" assays.

A. Assays Based on Bacterial Luminescence

Bioluminescent or luminous bacteria are mostly marine microorganisms which live freely in ocean water or in association with higher marine organisms. The three major luminous bacteria are *Photobacterium* (vibrio) *fisheri*, *phosphoreum*, and *Beneckea harveyi*. ²⁸ From a biochemical standpoint, bioluminescent systems are considered as a branch of the electron transport system where the enzyme luciferase catalyzes the oxidation of FMNH₂ (reduced flavin mononucleotide) and an aldehyde, resulting in the production of FMN, acid, and light. Some early reports^{29,30} have suggested the use of bioluminescent bacteria in toxicity testing. More recently, a Microtox® assay based on measurement of bacterial bioluminescence was developed by scientists at Beckman Instruments. Inc. (Carlsbad, Calif.) to screen aquatic pollutants for their toxicity. The numerous applications of this assay are explored in Chapter 4 of Volume 1 of this book.

B. Assays Based on the Measurement of Growth Inhibition, Respiration, and Viability of Bacterial Cells

Bacterial assays for chemical toxicity in aquatic environments are based on measurement of growth inhibition, respiration, or viability of the cells. Sewage microorganisms as well as bacteria belonging to the genera *Pseudomonas*, *Klebsiella*, *Aeromonas*, or *Citrobacter* have been suggested for these assays. Some representative methods used in these bacterial bioassays are described in detail by Trevors in Chapter 2 of Volume I.

One particular bioassay is based on the nitrifying ability of *Nitrobacter* in sewage treatment plants. These bacteria have been proposed as bioassay microorganisms to measure the toxicity of heavy metals and industrial wastes. Nitrite disappearance or nitrate formation are monitored in these tests. The toxicant concentration (ED₅₀) that causes 50% inhibition of nitrite conversion to nitrate can be obtained from plots of the relative metabolic rate of *Nitrobacter* as a function of toxicant concentration.¹⁸

Another particular bioassay is the Syrillum volutans test which is based on loss of coordination and subsequent loss of mobility in the presence of toxicants. 4,31 (see also Chapter 2 of this Volume).

The biological activity of wastewater is usually determined via respirometric methods.³² Oxygen uptake may be determined using a wide variety of techniques described by King and Dutka in Chapter 5 in Volume I. A toxicity test based on respirometry consists of measuring the effect of a toxicant (e.g., percent inhibition) on the oxygen uptake rate of a wastewater sample. This approach has been used to measure the toxicity of heavy metals and organic chemicals in wastewater treatment plants.³³

C. "Ecological Effect" Assays

"Ecological effect" tests provide information on the adverse effects of toxicants upon natural and man-modified ecosystems. Some of these tests have been published in the U.S. Federal Register³⁴ and consist of evaluating the effects of pollutants on nutrient cycling, and include organic matter decomposition, nitrogen transformations (ammonification, nitrification), and sulfate reduction.

V. ALGAL TESTS

Algae are primary producers widely used for assessing the impact of nutrient and toxic input to aquatic environments. Algal bioassays are relatively simple and inexpensive as

compared to fish or invertebrate bioassays. These tests may be carried out under laboratory conditions using batch or continuous cultures of algae. Among the most widely known "batch culture" tests is the "Algal Assay Procedure Bottle Test" developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency³⁵ to assess limiting nutrients in aquatic environments. However, these laboratory methods have been criticized since they may not adequately simulate the natural environment. Hence, some investigators propose the use of mixed natural algal populations in toxicity assays.

Algal bioassays for toxicity testing are based on a wide range of parameters which include cell counts, in vivo fluorescence, ¹⁴C assimilation, nitrogenase activity, or adenylate energy charge. These method and others are extensively described by Wong and Couture in Chapter 4.

VI. FUNGI AND YEAST BIOASSAYS

Along with bacteria, fungi and yeasts play an important role in the decomposition of organic matter in solid and aquatic environments and in industrial processes. Some species are, however, pathogenic to plants and animals and others may colonize and deteriorate various surfaces. Bioassays using fungi and yeasts are based on a myriad of methods such as measurement of radial growth rates on solid media and growth inhibition in broth, spore germination tests, agar diffusion methods, respirometry, ETS activity, or measurement of K^+ release following exposure to a toxicant. These methods and others are discussed by Gadd in Chapter 3.

Although these bioassays have not been widely used in the water pollution field, their further development remains nonetheless essential, especially with regard to the control of biodeterioration of natural and synthetic surfaces as well as applications in phytopathology and medicine.

VII. OTHER APPROACHES

Recently, two procedures, which are not in themselves new, have started to attract researchers interested in toxicity screening tests. These procedures are the use of microcosms to study toxicant effects and the use of microcalorimetric techniques. Both of these procedures show promise and were the subject of several papers at the First International Symposium on Toxicity Testing Using Bacteria, May 17 to 19, 1983, Burlington Ont. Canada.

A. Microcosms

Microbial degradation of a potential toxicant or pollutant in the natural environment depends upon the relative concentration and availability to the indigenous microbial community. One of the ways of monitoring this degradation in the aquatic environment is through the use of microcosms.

Microcosm approaches using natural waters, solid, or sediments as microbial seed are now being used to develop a correlated interpretative analysis of the fate and effect of a variety of xenobiotics in aquatic environments. However, quantitative estimates for environmental fate can still only be achieved by the extrapolation of laboratory estimates to an in situ ecosystem, and we suspect laboratory conditions may overestimate degradation rates or toxicity effects.

Portier³⁷ and Portier and Myers³⁸ have pursued the use of microcosms and have much experience with both the batch-type and continuous-flow microcosms. They have used the microcosm procedure to analyze the effects of three major classes of toxicants: organophosphates, organochlorine, and phenol. A summary of their techniques and results has recently been published.³⁸

B. Microcalorimetric Techniques

The use of microcalorimetry to study the effect of potential toxicants on microorganisms is a new, exciting, and developing concept. Basically there are two main responses in heterotrophic microorganisms when they are subjected to stress. One response is to effect changes in biomass or community structure and the other response is based on changes in total or specific activities, e.g., motility and heat production. Heat changes which accompany all biological activity reflect the total activity in a community and could be a useful parameter for studies on the integrated effect of ecocontaminants under aerobic as well as anaerobic conditions.³⁹

In principle, the measurement of the heat flux in the presence of inhibitors can provide a basis for evaluating inhibitory effects and the "microtoxicity" of contaminants. The main limitations in the past for the use of this procedure have been related to instrumental requirements, namely, sensitivity, response time, ease of operation, and automation.⁴⁰

One of the major reasons for using microcalorimetric techniques is that a community effect is measured rather than the effect of pure or slightly diversified cultures, which could lead to the misinterpretation of toxicity effects. With the recent developments in flow microcalorimeters, it has been found that microcalorimetric techniques are sensitive to $\sim 10^4$ cells per cubic centimeter, exhibit a response time of ~ 1 min, and may be used virtually for any type of microorganisms, substrate, and toxic contaminants. The ease of operation is comparable to standard chromatographic techniques and hence, measurement systems could readily be automated for dedicated analysis in continuous monitoring or control operations. This topic is further discussed in Chapter 11.

VIII: CONCLUSIONS

Many of the enzyme and bacterial growth tests which have been developed for monitoring or screening of toxicants in water or effluent discharges have been touched on or reviewed. Most of these tests are rapid, relatively reproducible and inexpensive, and require little space and time as compared to fish bioassays. Microbiological screening techniques provide a useful and rapid screening tool to aquatic toxicologists, sanitary and environmental engineers, and microbial ecologists. Bacteria appear to be sensitive sensors of chemical toxicity since they respond relatively quickly to changes in their environment.

However, little information is available on comparative studies of short-term bacterial assays for estimating the impact of toxicants on the aquatic environment. Such studies could give information about reproducibility, sensitivity, cost, and rapidity of the various tests. With the recent initiation of the International Symposia on Toxicity Testing Using Bacteria (First, May 17 to 19, 1983), it is hoped that these biannual symposia will provide the forum for obtaining this type of information. Also, as in the case for mutagenicity testing, the use of a battery of short-term tests to screen for toxicity of aquatic pollutants should be entertained.

There are, however, still some problems as scientists and engineers still attempt to associate the relationship of bacterial and enzyme assays with animal toxicity tests. Other problems concern the attitude of government agencies and engineers toward enzyme and bacterial assays. This attitude can be changed through further research on bacterial toxicity tests and better education of the potential users. Again, the International Symposia on Toxicity Testing Using Bacteria may be the vehicle for the above.

There is a strong need to standardize bacterial tests, and efforts are being made towards that goal under the sponsorship of the American Society for Testing and Material (ASTM) and the International Standards Organization (ISO). The use of the battery approach must be emphasized as there are no absolute techniques.

The field of microbial toxicology is in its infancy and we believe microbial toxicity screening is the future for toxicological screening tests.

REFERENCES

- Draggan, S. and Giddings, J. M., Testing toxic substances for protection of the environment, Sci. Total Environ., 9, 63, 1978.
- 2. Kohn, G. K., Bioassay as a monitoring tool, Pest. Rev., 76, 99, 1980.
- Bringmann, G. and Kuhn, R., Comparison of the toxicity thresholds of water pollutants to bacteria, algae and protozoa in the cell multiplication inhibition test, Water Res., 14, 231, 1980.
- Bowdre, J. A. and Krieg, N. R., Water quality monitoring: bacteria as indicators, Virginia Water Resources
 Research Center, Bull. No. 69, Virginia Polytechnical Institute and State University, Blacksburg, 1974.
- Ryssov-Nielsen, H., Measurement of the inhibitive of respiration in activated sludge by a modified determination of the TTC-dehydrogenase activity, Water Res., 9, 1179, 1975.
- Bulich, A. H, and Greene, M. M., The use of luminescent bacteria for biological monitoring of water quality, in *Proc. Int. Symp. Anal. Appl. Biolumin. Chemilumin.* 43. FUAR, Schram, E. and Philip, S., Eds., State Printing and Publishing, 1979, 193.
- Dutka, B. J. and Kwan, K. K., Comparison of three microbial toxicity screening tests with the Microtox system, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 26, 43, 1981.
- Trevors, J. T., Mayfield, C. I., and Inniss, W. E., A rapid toxicity test using Pseudomonas fluorescens, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 26, 433, 1981.
- Rawling, G. D., Source Assessment: Textile Plant Wastewater, Toxics Study: Phase 1, EPA Report 600/ 2-78-004 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1978.
- Malcolm, A. R. and Pringle, B. H., Chemical toxicity with cultured mammalian cells, in *Bioassay Techniques and Environmental Chemistry*, Glass, G. E., Ed., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Mich., 1975.
- Autian, J. and Dillingham, E. O., Overview of general toxicity testing with emphasis on special tissue culture tests, in Short Term in Vitro Testing for Carcinogenesis, Mutagenesis and Toxicity, Berky, J. and Sherrod, P. C., Eds., Franklin Institute Press, Philadelphia, 1977.
- Christian, R. T., Cody, T. E., and Elia, U. J., In vitro toxicity testing of environmental samples, in Short Term in Vitro Testing for Carcinogenesis, Mutagenesis and Toxicity, Berky, J. and Sherrod, P. C., Eds., Franklin Institute Press, Philadelphia, 1977.
- Patrick, R., Use of algae, especially diatoms in the assessment of water quality, in Biological Methous for the Assessment of Water Quality, ASTM, Philadelphia, 1973, STP 528.
- Wong, P. T. S., Burnison, G., and Chau, Y. K., Cadmium toxicity to algae, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 23, 487, 1979.
- Becking, C. A., Ed., Report of the Workshop on Biological Screening Tests, EPA-600/9-79-004, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Las Vegas, Nev., 1979.
- Gaudy, A. and Gaudy, E., Microbiology for Environmental Scientists and Engineers. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1980.
- Dutka, B. J. and Kwan, K. K., Application of four bacterial screening procedures to assess changes in the toxicity of chemicals in mixtures, Environ. Pollut. Ser. A, 29, 125, 1982.
- Williamson, K. J. and Johnson, D. G., A bacterial bioassay for assessment of wastewater quality. Water Res., 15, 383, 1981.
- Chet, I. and Mitchell, R., The ecological significance of microbial chemotaxis, Am. Rev. Microbiol., 30, 221, 1976.
- Walsh, F. and Mitchell, R., Inhibition of intermicrobial prediction by chlorinated hydrocarbons, Nature (London), 249, 673, 1974.
- Iverson, W. P. and Brinckman, F. E., Microbial metabolism of heavy metals, in Water Pollution Microbiology, Vol. 2, Mitchell, R., Ed., Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1978.
- Babich, H. and Stotzky, G., Developing standards for environmental toxicants: the need to consider abiotic
 environmental factors and microbe mediated ecologic processes, Environ. Health Perspect., 49, 247, 1983.
- Stotzky, G., Physiocochemical factors that effect the toxicity of heavy metals to microbes in aquatic habitats, in *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, Colwell, R. R. and Foster, J., Eds., Md. Sea Grant Publ., University of Maryland, College Park, 1979.
- Dermer, O. C., Curtis, V. S., and Leach, F. R., Biochemical Indicators of Subsurface Pollution, Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Mich., 1980.
- Packard, T. T., The measurement of electron transport activity in marine phytoplankton, J. Mar. Res., 29, 235, 1971.
- Holm-Hansen, O., Determination of total microbial biomass by measurements of 90 adenosine triphosphate, in *Estuarine Microbial Ecology*, Steveson, L. H. and Colwell, R. R., Eds., University of South Carolina Press, Columbia, 1973.
- Brezonik, P. L. and Patterson, J. W., Activated sludge ATP: effects of environmental stress, J. San. Eng. Div., 97, 813, 1972.

- 28. Hastings, J. W. and Nealson, K. H., Bacterial bioluminescence, Ann. Rev. Microbiol., 31, 549, 1978.
- Serat, W. F., Budinger, F. E., and Mueller, P. K., Evaluation of biological effects of air pollutants by use of luminescent bacteria, J. Bacteriol., 90, 832, 1965.
- Kossler, F., Physiologische untersuchungen zur atmung von vibrio luminosus Beijerinck, Arch. Mikrobiol., 64, 146, 1968.
- Dutka, B. J. and Switzer-House, K., Distribution of mugatens and toxicants in Lake Ontario waters as assessed by microbiological procedures, J. Great Lakes Res., 4, 237, 1978.
- Montgomery, H. A. C., The determination of biochemical oxygen demand by respirometric techniques, Water Res., 1, 631, 1967.
- 33. Block, J., Respirometric measurements on activated sludge, Water Res., 8, 11, 1974.
- 34. U.S.A. Federal Registry, 44 (53), March 16, 1979.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Algal Assay Procedure Bottle Test, National Eutrophication Res. Program, Environmental Protection Agency, Corvallis, Ore., 1971.
- 36. Cairns, J., Jr., Beyond reductionism, Va. Tech. Mag., 3, 30, 1980.
- Portier, R. J., Microcosm Studies on the Effect of Azinophosmethyl (Guthion) in Agriculturally Affected Wetlands, M. S. thesis, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, 1979.
- 38. Portier, R. J. and Myers, S. P., Coupling of in situ and laboratory microcosm protocols for ascertaining fate and effect of xenobiotics, in *Toxicity Screening Procedures Using Bacterial Systems*, Liu, D. and Dutka, B. J., Eds., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1984, 345.
- Gustafsson, K., Heat changes and diversity as targets for ecocontaminants, in Toxicity Screening Procedures
 Using Bacterial Systems, Liu, D. and Dutka, B. J., Eds., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1984, 251.
- Beaubien, A. and Jolicoeur, C., The toxicity of various heavy metal salts, alcohols and surfactants to microorganisms in a biodegradation process: a flow microcolorimetry investigation, in *Toxicity Screening Procedures Using Bacterial Systems*, Liu, D. and Dutka, B. J., Eds., Marcel Dekker, New York, 1984, 261.

Chapter 2

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS AFFECTING THE UTILITY OF MICROBIAL ASSAYS FOR THE TOXICITY AND MUTAGENICITY OF CHEMICAL POLLUTANTS*

H. Babich and G. Stotzky

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introd	luction	10
	1111100		
II.	Envir	onmental Factors That Mediate Chemical Toxicity	12
	A.	Heavy Metals	
		1. pH	
		2. E _h	
		3. Inorganic Ionic Composition	19
		4. Clay Minerals	22
		5. Hydrous Metal Oxides	
		6. Organic Matter	23
		7. Ion Exchange Capacity	24
		8. Temperature	
		9. Hydrostatic Pressure	27
	В.	Organic Pollutants	27
III.	Envir	onmental Factors That Mediate Chemical Mutagenicity	28
			100
IV.	Pollu	tant-Pollutant Interactions	30
V.	Conc	lusions	32
ACKI	owledg	ment	33
D - 6-			2.0
rerei	ences		33

^{*} The literature search and manuscript for this chapter were completed in 1983.

I. INTRODUCTION

The 1970s have been termed the "environmental decade", as during this period a variety of federal statutes in the U.S. were promulgated that strengthened many pre-existing laws and set new legislation for the regulation of chemical toxicants with respect to their adverse effects on human health, the environment, and the indigenous biota. For example, the Marine Pollution, Research, and Sanctuaries Act (MPRSA) of 1972, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (FWPCA) of 1972, and the Resource Conversation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 charged the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) with protecting various components of the biosphere from chemical contamination and stress. Of particular importance were the 1970 Amendments to the Clean Air Act (CAA), which required the EPA to formulate National Ambient Air Quality Standards and included both primary standards to protect human health and secondary standards to protect the environment and its biota. Standards were set for ambient levels of sulfur dioxide, particulates, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, hydrocarbons, photochemical oxidants,2-4 and lead.5 The Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) of 1976 mandated the EPA to regulate the manufacture, processing, distribution, commercial use, labeling, and disposal of substances on the basis of "unreasonable risk" of injury to the health of human beings or to aquatic and terrestrial environments. Section 5 of the TSCA required manufacturers to submit a premanufacture notice and environmental and human health data to the EPA before the manufacture of any "new chemical substance" or the manufacture or processing of any existing chemical for a "significant new use." However, the TSCA did not delineate the specific types of data that manufacturers must include in their premanufacture notice. Although the EPA cannot specify the scientific information that must be submitted by manufacturers, it does have the authority to require additional testing by manufacturers if the existing data are insufficient for determining whether an "unreasonable risk" to health and the environment exists. To guide manufacturers in providing sufficient information for risk assessment of these chemicals, the EPA has identified the types of data (Table 1) on the physical and chemical properties and the health and environmental effects that should be submitted by manufacturers.6

In 1979, the EPA set new criteria for chemical pollutants occurring in aquatic environments, both freshwater and marine. The Water Quality Criteria for various categories of chemicals (Table 2) — which were later defined in terms of 129 specific priority pollutants - considered toxic under the Clean Water Act (CWA) of 1977 were set at distinct levels to protect human health and the aquatic biota. For example, in freshwaters, the criterion for pentachlorophenol is 6.2 ppb for "aquatic life" and 140 ppb for human health. In formulating the Water Quality Criteria, the EPA noted that the toxicity of a pollutant may be reduced in some environments, whereas in other environments with different physicochemical properties, the toxicity of an equivalent concentration of the pollutant may be potentiated. For example, as the toxicity to the biota of heavy metals appears to be directly related to the degree of hardness in freshwaters, the criteria for beryllium (Be), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), nickel (Ni), lead (Pb), and zinc (Zn) were formulated on a sliding scale, recognizing that as hardness increases, the levels of metals that can be tolerated by the biota also increase.8-11 The focus by the EPA on only hardness reflected the lack of significant data to establish relations between other abiotic factors and pollutant toxicity: "Although EPA recognizes that other water characteristics such as pH, temperature, or degree of salinity (as in estuaries) may affect the toxicity of some pollutants, the data base at this time is not detailed enough for further specificity." As there is no "Clean Soil Act", there are no standards or criteria for toxicants in terrestrial environments.

Protecting the environment from the adverse effects of potential chemical pollutants is a herculian task, as it has been estimated that 70,000 chemicals are currently in use in the U.S. alone and that 700 to 3000 new chemicals will be introduced each year. 12 To accomplish

Table 1

SCIENTIFIC DATA, RECOMMENDED BY THE U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, TO BE SUPPLIED BY CHEMICAL MANUFACTURERS IN THEIR PREMANUFACTURE NOTICE^{6,7}

Physical/chemical data Melting point/melting range Boiling point/boiling range Density of liquids and solids Vapor pressure Water solubility Partition coefficient, n-octanol/water Hydrolysis, as a function of pH Absorption spectra (ultraviolet and visible) Soil adsorption/desorption Dissociation constant Particle size distribution Degradation/accumulation data

Ready degradability

Bioaccumulation (uptake from medium)

Acute toxicity data

Acute oral toxicity

Acuté dermal toxicity

Acute inhalation toxicity

Skin irritation

Eye irritation (for chemicals showing no skin irritation)

Repeated dose toxicity data

14 to 28 Days, repeated dose test(s), using probable route(s) of human exposure Mutagenicity data (screening tests)

Gene (point) mutation (Salmonella typhimurium reverse mutation assay preferred)

Chromosome aberrations (in vitro mammalian cytogenetics test)

Ecotoxicity data

Acute toxicity, LC50 study, fish (96 hr) Daphnia reproduction study (three broods) Growth inhibition, unicellular algae (4 days)

the task of evaluating the risk to human health and to the environment of chemical pollutants, various bioassays, ranging in complexity from in vitro tests with single microbial species 13-18 to more complex assays using whole animals or microcosms, 19-23 have been developed.

The intent of this chapter is not to review the benefits and limitations of the various bioassays, but to emphasize the need to recognize and incorporate into the assay procedures the mediating influence on pollutant toxicity of the abiotic physicochemical characteristics of aquatic and terrestrial environments. Assays that are standardized, although important for evaluating initially the toxicity of a potential pollutant, have limited value in predicting the toxicity of that pollutant in different natural environments, inasmuch as the data obtained will reflect only the biotic response to the toxicant under one specific set of environmental variables. Merely knowing the concentration of a chemical that evokes a deleterious response in vitro is not likely to produce meaningful information for the environmental management of that pollutant.24 As the response of the biota to chemical toxicants in situ (i.e., in the "real world") is dependent on numerous abiotic factors (i.e., the physicochemical characteristics of the specific recipient environment), the potential mediating influence of these factors on pollutant toxicity must be incorporated into the in vitro assays. Only then can regulatory agencies, such as EPA and state and local environmental agencies, utilize these data to formulate risk assessments of and to set criteria and standards for these chemicals that will adequately protect the biosphere. A criterion or a standard for an environmental pollutant that is based on only one set of abiotic factors may be either overprotective or underprotective for environments with different physicochemical properties. 25-28 Attention